IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

BRIAN BRITT

APPELLANT

JAN 31 2023

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2022-CP-00165

OFFICE OF THE CLERK

CRAIG BRADLEY ORRISON, AND URFORDEANE.

APPELLEES

Consolidated with: 2017-TS-01292

BRIAN BRITT

APPELLANT

VS.

CRAIG BRADLEY ORRISON, AND THE SHED, INC.

APPELLEES

Consolidated with: 2017-CP-00700-COA

BRIAN BRITT

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2017-CP-00700

CRAİG BRADLEY ORRISON, AND THE SHED, INC.

APPELLEES

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Jackson County, Mississippi, Cause No: 2012-1736-NH Honorable Neil Harris, Chancery Judge

Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The trial court committed manifest error in failing to enter a judgement for court costs of appeal as previously awarded to Britt by the Mississippi Court of Appeals ("COA").
- 2. The trial court committed manifest error by falsely accusing Britt of violating the September 19, 2012 order and falsely accusing Britt of failing to convey the Wilson House to Orrison by October 17, 2012 as agreed, when Britt did in fact convey it.
- 3. The trial court erred in failing to find Orrison in contempt when Orrison had put on no defense whatsoever to show why he failed to perform by October 17, 2012 as ordered.
- 4. The trial court erred in declaring damages were irrelevant to the contempt hearing, and further, in failing to consider Britt's claim for damages caused by Orrison's breach.
- 5. The trial court erred in raising the question of the moving of the Wilson House by the City of Gautier, and making this the sole focus at hearing, and without first giving Britt proper notice, and without examining the legitimate reasons it was forced to move.
- 6. The trial court erred in ignoring completely and avoiding altogether the very heart and paramount issue of the contempt petition: Orrison's failure to abide by the court order and perform his obligations by October 17, 2012 as promised and as ordered.
- 7. The trial court erred in falsely accusing Britt of conveying property that he did not own and falsely accusing Britt of fraud and perjury when signing a document in 2016.
- 8. The trial court erred in falsely accusing Britt of lies and deception and appealing the court's decision after property was conveyed to Gautier in 2016, which was totally false.
- 9. The trial court erred in failing to allow Britt the opportunity to amend his nine-year-old pleadings to accurately reflect the changed set of circumstances of the last nine years.
- 10. The trial court erred when Judge Harris refused to disqualify himself amidst the tremendous bias and open hostility exhibited toward Britt, the double standard applied by the court, conflicts of interest between Britt and members of Judge Harris's family, and most importantly, the continuing shroud of suspicion created by two ex parte phone conferences between Judge Harris and Orrison's attorney Nathan Prescott on September 10 and 11, 2012, which have yet to be disclosed or explained.
- 11. The trial court erred in requiring Britt to go forward with the hearing before an overwhelmingly biased and openly hostile court, which violated Britt's Constitutional rights to Due Process and Equal Protection and right to a fair and impartial hearing.

- 12. Britt's rights of equal protection and due process were denied when Britt was never informed of entry of a judgement despite numerous inquiries and requests by Britt, and Britt had no opportunity to file any post-judgment motions within the ten-day time period.
- 13. The trial court abused its discretion in failing to invoke the "Clean Hands Doctrine" when it was clearly proven through uncontested and unrefuted evidence that Orrison wholly and blatantly breached his multiple promises of the Settlement Agreement and violated the Order by failing to take any action by October 17, 2012.
- 14. The trial court committed manifest error in continually disputing the unanimous ruling of the Court of Appeals and needlessly arguing that the appellate court was wrong regarding Rule 81 summons, property description "lack of specificity", etc.
- 15. Unjust Enrichment and Public policy demand Orrison still be held to his remaining commitments to pay Britt \$20,000 and convey the 2 ½ acre parcel as promised.

STATEMENT OF ASSIGNMENT

Appellant believes that this matter is already familiar to the Mississippi Court Of Appeals because the prior appeal in this case was ruled upon by the Court of Appeals in 2021.

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

The Appellant would state that oral argument in this case is probably not necessary due to the numerous straightforward issues and the obvious errors committed contrary to well settled law.

PREFACE

Appellant is ever mindful of MRAP Rule 28(l) and its serious consequences. Appellant has tried earnestly in his brief to show no disrespectful language toward the trial court, the trial court reporter, the trial court clerk, the defense attorneys, or the defendants in this matter. However, it is impossible to openly, truthfully and candidly discuss the complex series of events presented in this very unique situation without casting the aforementioned players in a negative light. In order to argue errors committed, Appellant must discuss unflattering and inflammatory circumstances, truth of which is 100% proven in the record. Please don't shoot the messenger.

The record of the prior appeal in this case contained many mistakes and omissions, even after the three long years taken to complete it. It is now consolidated with the record of this current appeal, so things are even more complicated and confusing. Included in the record of the prior appeal was a Transcript, Corrected Transcript, and two Supplemental Transcripts. Also, the exhibits were not all listed sequentially. Due to the myriad of hearing dates, the numbering used on many exhibits was reset at subsequent hearings, resulting in the duplication of many exhibit numbers over the years used to designate completely different items. The record of the current appeal has transcripts and exhibits from only two dates, Nov. 4, 2021 and Jan. 5, 2022.

Accordingly, references in this brief will give the Exhibit number, the date of the hearing, and if necessary, the specific page number of multi-paged exhibits (e.g., Exh#1-D,11/20/13,P95). References to transcripts of the prior appeal will use "T" to designate Transcript, "CorT" to designate Corrected Transcript, "SupT1" to designate the Supplemental Transcript from hearing of January 4, 2017, and "SupT2" to designate the Supplemental Transcript from hearing of March 24, 2017. References to transcript of the current appeal will use "2ndT". References to Clerk's Papers of the prior appeal will use "CP" to designate Clerk's Papers, and "SupCP" to designate Supplemental Clerk's Papers. References to Clerk's Papers of the current appeal will use "2ndCP". Appellant, Brian Britt, is Pro Se, so first person is used many times for simplicity.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The Nature of the Case

On August 22, of 2012, Plaintiff Brian Britt ("Britt") filed a complaint in the Chancery Court of Jackson County to enforce a written contract whereby Defendants Brad Orrison and The Shed, Inc. ("Orrison") agreed to buy and relocate an historic two-story log house owned by Brian Britt known as the Wilson House, with consideration in cash plus about 2 ½ acres of real property.

On September 4, 2012, the parties announced to the court that a settlement had been reached, and substantially the same as the original contract, and the court required the settlement agreement to be read into the record. The Order was prepared by Orrison's attorney and approved by the court with Order entered on September 19, 2012, *15 days* after the agreement stated in court.

On October 24, 2012, Britt filed his Motion For Defendants To Be Adjudged In Contempt Of Court after Orrison failed to relocate the Wilson House as agreed and as Ordered, with Notice of Hearing for December 10, 2012. On Friday, December 7, 2012, Orrison filed a Motion to Set Aside Order, with no notice of hearing. On December 10, 2012, the court refused to hear Britt's Motion for lack of a Rule 81 Summons, and the court immediately proceeded to hear Orrison's Motion to Set Aside Order, over objection by Britt for lack of notice of any kind to Britt.

On January 29, 2013, the court entered its Order granting Orrison's *Motion to Set Aside*, ruling the property description drafted by Orrison's attorney in the agreed settlement Order lacked specificity and thus the entire settlement agreement Order, prepared by Defendants, was set aside.

On March 1, 2013, Orrison filed an Answer to Britt's complaint, with a counterclaim. The court told Britt on many different occasions in court that no written answer was required of Britt, but Britt filed his Answer nevertheless on November 20, 2013. Upon hearing on Britt's original Complaint, the court granted Orrison's motion for directed verdict. The sole reason given by the court for was same as before, a lack of specificity in the property description.

On Monday, December 2, 2013, Britt filed his Motion for New Trial by depositing same in the mail by USPS (the tenth day had fallen on Saturday, November 30, 2013). The Defendants moved to strike Britt's Motion for New Trial by claiming it was untimely, ignoring Rule 6(e) which added three days for mail service. The court summarily granted Orrison's Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial, entering its Order on July 22, 2015, based on Defendants' arguments only, without ever considering the application of MRCP Rule 6(e) computation of time.

Hearing on Orrison's counterclaim was set for July 22, 2015. Due to serious illness Plaintiff was not able to attend, so Britt filed his Motion To Continue by having his Motion hand delivered and filed early before court on July 22, 2015, by Britt's son who is a U.S. Marshal. The court would not take up Britt's Motion To Continue, and instead, completely ignored Britt's Motion and refused to acknowledge it, and summarily entered its *Default Judgment On Counterclaim* on July 23, 2015, for reason stated by the court that "*Plaintiff failed to file an answer or a responsive pleading to Defendants' Counterclaim*", despite the fact that Britt did in fact file his *Plaintiff's Answer To Defendants' Counterclaim* on the morning of November 20, 2013.

On August 13, 2015, the court entered an Order setting the matter for a Writ Of Inquiry. Britt filed his Notice of Appeal on August 21, 2015, believing the trial court had lost its jurisdiction based upon statutory law and *Covington County Bank v Magee*, because there had been no seizure of property whatsoever and, relying upon current law, the court had no jurisdiction to conduct a Writ Of Inquiry and therefore Plaintiff realized the Default Judgment of July 23, 2015 had become a final judgment. Nevertheless, the Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss Appeal and Britt's Appeal was subsequently dismissed by Order from the Supreme Court on November 9, 2015. The trial court once again on August 9, 2016, scheduled the matter for a Writ Of Inquiry, and on January 4, 2017, a Writ Of Inquiry was conducted in Britt's absence, and Order was entered with judgment against the Plaintiff on January 17, 2017. Britt filed his (2nd) Motion For New Trial on January 27, 2017, and his (2nd) Motion For Recusal on March 23, 2017. On March 24, 2017, the court

refused to hear Britt's Motion For Recusal and summarily denied it, and after a *five-minute* argument allowance, the court also denied Britt's Motion For New Trial. On April 13, 2017, the trial court entered its Order granting final judgment to Orrison and denying all relief to Britt. Out of an abundance of precaution, Britt re-filed his Notice Of Appeal (2nd time) on May 15, 2017.

The Court of Appeals ("COA") ruled in Britt's favor on June 29, 2021, reversing and rendering on every major issue that was reviewed by the COA, and reversing and remanding for a hearing on Britt's Motion for Contempt, which hearing Britt was deprived of in 2012, to determine whether Orrison was in contempt for his failure to perform his obligations as ordered in 2012. After hearings on November 4, 2021, and January 5, 2022, the trial court entered its Judgment on January 18, 2022, ruling in favor of Orrison and dismissing entirely Britt's Petition for Contempt, stating that Orrison was not required to fulfill his obligations to Britt by the October 17, 2021 deadline for performance as agreed in the Settlement Agreement and as Ordered by the court, due to a change in circumstances that was yet to occur many years later into the future in 2016 and 2017. Further, the trial court did not grant Britt any judgment for his requested costs of appeal that had been previously awarded to Britt on appeal by the COA, nor would the court even consider any damages caused in 2012 (and the continually mounting damages for the many years that followed) as a result of Orrison's violation in 2012 of the Settlement Agreement/Order. Britt filed a post-judgment motion but did not pursue it because it was filed after the ten-day time period because Britt was never notified of entry of the judgment and Britt only learned of the judgment's entry on the tenth and final day due to Britt's own initiative and determination. Britt filed his Notice of Appeal on February 17, 2022, appealing the trial court Judgment of January 18, 2022.

2. Statement of Facts

This case began when Brad Orrison changed his mind about purchasing from Brian Britt, in 2012, a beautiful 2-story log home known as The Wilson House Inn Bed & Breakfast that sat along I-10 in Jackson County. The land it sat on sold in November, 2011 to Bienville Orthopaedics

("Doctors"), and their sales contract promised the Doctors the historic house would be moved from the property, knowing already that Orrison wanted it. Britt had parceled out a small corner lot of almost one acre where Britt's new model log home for his soon-to-be-opened Southland Log Homes ("SLH") dealership was located. Orrison signed a contract with Britt in January, 2012, paid \$1,000 deposit, and agreed to move the house at his expense as soon as possible since Britt had already sold the real property to the Doctors. (CP29). Orrison never moved the house as promised. and in July 2012 he suddenly told Britt that he was "backing out of the deal". The reason Orrison wanted out of the contract is not known, but what was presented as evidence and uncontested at trial without any denial or challenge from the Defendants, is that Orrison decided to intentionally vandalize the house in mid-July in hopes it would excuse him from the contract. (SupT2,P5,L6-9). Britt went to Orrison's business, The Shed BBO, 7/12/12, to tell Orrison to come get his trailer that Britt had loaded with a 18'x25' room/addition (as a free gift to Orrison) which was removed from the back of the original historic home in preparation for moving the house. (CorT180-183). That weekend, July 13-14, 2012, Orrison disconnected an upstairs bathroom water line by unscrewing it, causing the house to flood all weekend, ruining irreplaceable artwork and other valuable contents. (SupT2,P5,L10-13). Among things ruined was a hand-painted portrait by Mrs. Marjorie Welch Wilson of her father who was president of Western Union in New York in the 1920's. It was irreplaceable. (CorT220). Orrison himself told Britt it had flooded 4 days, and the scene revealed he was right. Orrison called Britt at 4:33pm on July 17, 2012 saying someone had just called him and said the Wilson House was "flooding from an upstairs water pipe" with water "pouring out the ceiling and could be seen from the street", and "it had been flooding for 4 days". Orrison knew so many specific details that were later determined to be true, but he was the only person who knew these things. Orrison told Britt Gautier police cut the water off. (CorT184-186). At trial Orrison gave many different versions of the caller who alerted him about the upstairs water leak, but Orrison's phone records showed there were no incoming calls for that time period, with

the 2 most recent incoming calls from Orrison's wife. (SupCP44). Gautier Police was first alerted via an "anonymous" phone caller with blocked caller I.D., saying the Wilson House was flooding, "water leaking really bad". (CorT123,L13-19). By coincidence, Britt had just arrived from out of town 3 hours earlier and, like always, went to check on the house. Britt remained in his car and didn't go inside because everything looked perfectly normal from outside. (CorT193-197). It was only after Orrison's call that Britt quickly went to see, and only first saw the water under the front porch as he started up the front steps. The water was turned off at the pump house (private water well), so Gautier employees never went inside the locked house. When Britt went inside, he learned Orrison was exactly right. The water was indeed coming from upstairs just as Orrison said. and the swollen bathroom cabinet doors upstairs confirmed Orrison was also correct about the water running for several days, Britt learned there was no busted pipe. A threaded connection at the upstairs bathroom faucet had been unscrewed, but it certainly did not unscrew by itself. Orrison was the only person who knew the specifics that only the perpetrator would have known. (CorT197-200). Orrison's actions seemed bizarre...he never came to look. Here was the purchaser who was all excited about buying the Wilson House, yet when he "suddenly" learned of an emergency disaster at his house, he "immediately" called Britt but never came to look! He didn't rush right over like any other person would do. Nope, he never even bothered to come look and see what had happened even though he testified "he lived right across the street". (CorT82,L5-6). As it turned out, he never once was curious enough to ever come look at the house until more than three months later! Later when Britt testified about the disconnected water line at trial, Orrison never said one word. He sat silent and "turned red as a beet". (SupT2,P5,L18-29). Britt went to The Shed one week after Orrison told him about the upstairs pipe. Britt had heard nothing from Orrison. Orrison immediately told Britt on July 24, 2012, that he was backing out of the deal because the house was ruined (although he never came to see for himself). Britt told Orrison the beautiful 80-90 year-old heart-pine wood was full of natural pine resin and that the water had not

harmed it at all but had only made a big mess. (CorT124-126). Photos at trial showed the flooring boards underneath the house looked just like new lumber, showing no trace of any water stain. (Exh#5,12/13/12). Britt begged and pleaded with Orrison to come look at the house and see for himself that it was not damaged, but Orrison refused to listen to reason and steadfastly said he didn't want the house and that he was backing out of the deal. (CorT124-127). When Orrison breached, Britt got an ultimatum to move the house from the Doctors who bought the land, so Britt felt obligated to keep his word even though Orrison had broken his promise to Britt and had created a terrible hardship since there was nowhere to put the house and time had already run out because 9 months had passed since the land had sold and Orrison still had not moved it. (CorT127-128).

Britt explained his unforeseen dilemma to the City of Gautier, who verbally agreed to let the historic house be temporarily relocated to prevent it from being demolished, giving Britt time to seek enforcement of the contract in court. Britt paid \$15,150 to have the house moved 200-300 feet temporarily onto remaining property where Britt and his wife were opening a dealership for Southland Log Homes. Britt filed this cause in Chancery Court to enforce the contract. (CP24). The very day Orrison was served, he immediately tried to get Britt to settle. (CorT309-311). A settlement agreement was read into the record in court September 4, 2012, just 12 days after Brad Orrison had been served, and the settlement agreement was almost exactly the same as the original contract. Orrison was to pay \$20,000 and deed a 2½ acre parcel of land to Britt, and to move the house at Orrison's expense within 28 days, just as agreed before, plus Orrison was to reimburse Britt \$15,150 for moving the house off the sold land. (CorT15-19). It took Orrison's attorney 15 days to prepare the 1-page Order and have it entered, during which time the attorney had secret Ex Parte conferences with the judge. The Order was very brief and less specific than Britt's original contract. (CP43). Britt delivered a Bill of Sale to Orrison's attorney October 17, 2012, as agreed, but Orrisons breached once again, failing to hire a house mover or take any steps to move the house. (CorT78). The day after the deadline, Britt watched Orrison and 2 employees and his

brother-in-law appear with beers in their hands and obviously under the influence, and Orrison busted in the back door of the Wilson House. (CP46-47). Britt filed a Motion for Contempt. (CP 44-77). Hearing was set for December 10, but on Friday night, December 7, Defendants handed Britt a Motion to Set Aside Order with no Notice attached. (CP78). Monday morning, the court refused to hear Britt's Contempt Motion saying that Rule 81 service can't be waived although Defendants had no objection and announced "Ready". The court refused to enforce the settlement agreement. (CorT247-248). The court, over Britt's objection, then decided to go ahead immediately with Orrison's Motion to Set Aside with no notice to Britt. The hearing began December 13, three business days after Britt was served with No Notice. The court set aside the settlement agreement Order, saying the Order which Orrison's attorney had drafted was not specific enough. (CP159). Orrison was rewarded, to Britt's detriment, for the "lack of specificity" in the Order they had prepared. As things dragged on in court, the "temporary" Wilson House arrangement with the City of Gautier became an ultimatum to move the house. Gautier told Britt and his wife they would not get a final inspection or certificate of occupancy on Southland Log Homes, nor a business license, until Orrison moved the house away. The Britt's had spent \$250,000 to get their dealership started, every penny they owned. (CorT326,L18-29). Years passed with the court always ruling for Orrison. Britt and his wife suffered tremendous losses after Orrison failed to move the Wilson House. Orrison ruined their SLH business when he breached. (CorT327). Southland Log Homes corporate office hired two employees for Britt's business and scheduled a Grand Opening in 2012, relying upon the court order that said Orrison would have the Wilson House moved on or before October 17, 2012. Grand Opening was postponed several times before all hope was lost and Britt realized his SLH dealership would never open until Orrison moved his house. City of Gautier refused to let Britt open for business until Orrison moved his house. Gautier knew the matter was being litigated in court, but nevertheless continually hounded Britt to move the house, and finally they filed criminal charges against Britt on May 16, 2013. The

court was fully aware of this May 31, 2013. (Tvol 6 of 7, P326, L11-17). The court also knew the tremendous pressure Britt was under to move the house, and the ever-mounting losses Britt and his wife were suffering for each day their SLH business could not open, yet Orrison's business across the street was booming and he was making thousands of dollars each day while Britt's losses grew exponentially. After criminal charges had been pending for more than three years for zoning violation, Gautier persuaded Britt to donate the house to the city and they would move it. Britt agreed in order to cut his losses. Gautier moved the house in 2017 while this matter was on appeal. Britt had filed his Notice of Appeal on April 21, 2015, which was later ruled as being filed prematurely before a final judgment. After final judgment was finally entered two years later, Britt subsequently re-filed his Notice of Appeal out of an abundance of precaution, on May 15, 2017.

Upon review, the COA ruled unanimously in favor of Britt on June 29, 2021, reversing and rendering on every major issue addressed, and reversing and remanding on the issue of whether Orrison was in contempt in 2012 for failing to perform his obligations under the settlement agreement by October 17, 2012 as ordered. The COA awarded costs of the appeal to Britt, but upon remand the trial court would not grant Britt a judgment for costs of the appeal as requested. Also on remand, the trial court would not even address Orrison's violation in 2012 of the settlement agreement/court order when Orrison wholly failed to do as required by October 17, 2012. Instead, the trial court made a quantum leap into the future and would only discuss events that occurred in 2016 and 2017. The court ruled January 18, 2022 that Orrison was not required to obey the order by October 17, 2012 because Gautier moved the Wilson House in 2017! Britt appealed here again.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This was a remanded case to provide me, Appellant Brian Britt, hearing on my Motion for Contempt that I was wrongfully deprived of eleven years ago in 2012. The issue on remand was this: Were the defendants, Orrisons, in contempt for violating the settlement agreement/order of September 19, 2012 by failing to do those things they were ordered to do by October 17, 2012?

It was supposed to be a contempt hearing, but the trial court *never* conducted a hearing on the contempt charges. The court never once questioned why Orrison failed to do what he agreed and what he was ordered to do by October 17, 2012! Instead, the court launched its inquisition, its attacks upon me, and put me on trial to try to blame me somehow for everything bad that ever happened for the last 11 years, and all the while protecting and insulating Orrison from any scrutiny whatsoever, and holding Orrison completely blameless throughout this 11-year ordeal, despite the fact Orrison *NEVER* attempted to comply as ordered, and Orrison never contested the facts or put on any defense at all as to why he disobeyed the court order of September 19, 2012, not doing as promised by October 17, 2012. The court focused on something outside the scope of the contempt hearing, and strangely jumped from 2012 to 2016, four years into the future, and would only discuss future events from 2016 and beyond. Never was Orrison's misconduct in 2012 questioned.

Also, the court refused to accept the findings and decision of the appellate court. On appeal it was determined: (1) I conveyed the Wilson House to Orrison October 17, 2012; (2) Rule 81 Summons service had been waived and did not apply in our case; (3) the property description was sufficient to meet the statute of fraud requirements; (4) I was entitled to reimbursement of costs on appeal. The court totally refused to accept any of these 4 truths. The judge argued he was right, and when told the issues had already been decided and on which page of the appellate ruling it was discussed, the judge got very angry at me. The judge totally ignored COA findings and wasted precious time arguing why he was right and I was wrong (which meant the Court of Appeals was also wrong)! He was hostile and belligerent to me, and I was totally deprived of due process!

ARGUMENT

1. The trial court committed manifest error in failing to enter a judgement for court costs of appeal as previously awarded to Britt by the Mississippi Court of Appeals ("COA").

The Mississippi Court of Appeals ("COA") ruled in Appellant Britt's favor in the prior appeal of this case and issued its **Mandate** on July 20, 2021, and clearly stated therein: "Appellees taxed with costs of appeal". The **Mandate** also told the Jackson County Chancery Court, "YOU

ARE COMMANDED, that execution and further proceedings as may be appropriate forthwith be had consistent with this judgment,,," (emphasis added). Clearly, the Jackson County Chancery Court was ordered by the appellate court to act consistently with its ruling which specifically awarded Britt the costs of the appeal. The trial court did not do as ordered.

At hearing on January 5, 2022, Britt introduced evidence (Exh.#1, 01/05/22) without objection, and Britt also testified and explained the document, which included an itemization of court costs of the appeal with a total amount of \$4,065.00 in filing fees and other costs, and out of pocket expenses for the appeal in excess of \$1,000.00. Defendants did not object and did not questions it in any way, and therefore it was wholly undisputed and unchallenged and uncontested and should have been granted in the form of a money judgment in favor of Appellant Britt since this was 100% *consistent with* the **Mandate** of the COA. The trial court wouldn't grant it.

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