2022-CP-00165

Pages: 18

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIAN BRITT

APPELLANT

VS.

CRAIG BRADLEY ORRISON

NO. 2015-TS-01292

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE CHANCERY COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

PAGE, MANNINO, PERESICH & MCDERMOTT, PLLC Attorneys at Law Nathan L. Prescott (MSB# 101288) 759 Howard Avenue Biloxi, MS 39530 Telephone: (228) 374-2100 Facsimile: (228) 432-5539 Nathan.Prescott@pmp.org

BRIAN BRITT

VS.

CRAIG BRADLEY ORRISON

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A chancellor has broad equity powers. *See, e.g., Devore v. Devore*, 725 So. 2d 193 (Miss. 1998) ("Considering the broad discretion granted to chancellors to do what equity and justice

require[.]"). Here, after a hearing, the chancellor, in a very reasoned opinion, determined that Britt could not seek to hold Orrison in contempt, because (1) Britt "secreted" the conveyance of the log house from everyone, (2) the conveyance of the log house was the sole basis of his contempt motion, and (3) he "willfully and intentionally destroyed any ability of [the] Court to enforce" the settlement agreement. (R. 98). Orrison respectfully submits that the chancellor did not abuse his discretion in doing so and, therefore, asks the Court to affirm his order.

The remainder of Britt's arguments on appeal are procedural in nature and should also be denied.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

Appellate courts review a chancellor's decision on a motion for contempt under an abuse of discretion standard. *See, e.g., Jacobs v. Jacobs*, 918 So. 2d 795, 798 (Miss. 2005).

1. The chancellor's judgment denying Britt's motion for contempt was not an abuse of discretion.¹

As aforementioned, a chancellor enjoys broad equity powers. *See, e.g., Devore v. Devore*, 725 So. 2d 193 (Miss. 1998) ("Considering the broad discretion granted to chancellors to <u>do what</u> equity and justice require[.]") (emphasis added). ""[I]t is the **broad inherent equity powers of the chancery court** that give it the authority to act." *Humphries v. Humphries*, 904 So. 2d 192, 198 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citation omitted) (emphasis added). "**General equity principles of fairness** undergird this authority." *Id.* (citation omitted) (emphasis added). Chancellors are to further the interests of <u>fairness</u>, expediency and justice. *In re Estate of Carter*, 912 So. 2d 138, 147 (Miss. 2005) (emphasis added).

¹ Britt raises this same issue multiple times in his Brief – specifically, in arguments No. 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 13 and 14. Orrison's response in Section 1 is in response to all of these arguments.

"It is one of the oldest and most universal of principles required to be observed by the court of chancery that, when a party seeks the interposition and aid of that court, such a party **must show** that in **good faith and to the best of his ability and understanding** he on his part has **rendered unto the opposite party all the rights to which the latter is entitled** in respect directly to the subject matter of the suit or petition[.]" *Taliaferro v. Ferguson*, 38 So. 2d 471, 472 (Miss. 1949) (emphasis added). "He who seeks equity must do equity."" *Id.* at 473. "He who comes into equity must come in with clean hands."" *Id.* When neither party has clean hands, the chancellor is correct in declining to find one party in contempt. *See, e.g., Cossitt v. Cossitt*, 975 So. 2d 274, 279-80 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

Here, in a well-reasoned opinion, the chancellor determined that Britt could not seek to hold Orrison in contempt, because (1) Britt "secreted" the conveyance of the log house from everyone, (2) the conveyance of the log house was the sole basis of his contempt motion, and (3) he "willfully and intentionally destroyed any ability of [the] Court to enforce" the settlement agreement.² (R. 98).

In essence, the chancellor basically determined that the parties should go their separate ways after this eleven-year saga. And this determination is certainly fair and equitable, given the facts in this case. The parties reached an agreement in 2012 that required Orrison to pay Britt \$20,000 in cash, to deed two and one-half acres of property to Britt, and to move the log house within a certain time period. (R. 100). As stated above, Orrison did not move the log house within the stated time period, but he paid Britt the \$15,150.00 that Britt incurred when he moved the log house himself. (R. 56). Britt's argument that Orrison's actions somehow torpedoed his business plans are entirely unconvincing, as Britt asserts repeatedly in his brief that the log house was "his"

 $^{^{2}}$ When asked at the contempt hearing if he was ready to deliver the log house to Orrison, Britt answered "It is gone." (R. 116-17).

to "do with as he pleased" in *2013. See, e.g.*, Britt's Brief at pp. 27-28. The \$20,000 cash was never paid, the two and one-half acre parcel was never conveyed, <u>and the log house was conveyed</u> to Gautier in 2016.

Thus, the parties' current position is the position that they were in prior to the 2012 settlement agreement and, respectfully, the chancellor did not abuse his discretion by declining to find Orrision in contempt, after Britt's "secretion" of essential information regarding the log house, and his forcing Orrison to endure an almost five-year-long appeal that resulted in an unenforceable judgment. Based on the controlling law as cited above, Orrison respectfully submits that the chancellor did not abuse his discretion in denying Britt's motion for contempt, and he asks the Court to affirm his judgment.

Should the Court decide to reverse the chancellor's judgment, Orrison would respectfully request that the contempt issue be limited on remand. Britt argues strenuously on the one hand that the only facts relevant to his contempt petition are the facts that existed in 2012, but he then also argues that he should be granted \$729,301.00 in damages, all the way up until 2021. (Britt's Brief at p. 50). So if the Court reverse the chancellor's judgment, Orrison asks that the Court make it clear that the only facts to be considered by the chancellor are the facts as they existed on the day Britt's motion for contempt was filed in 2012. After all, a motion for contempt is not akin to a negligence action, in which one can recover any and all damages they allegedly suffer in perpetuity. Rather, the damages in a contempt action are limited to a party's actual expenses that result from the other party's violation, as established at the hearing.

2. Orrison has not been unjustly enriched.

Britt actually argues with (apparently) a straight face that Orrison has been unjustly enriched, and that public policy demands that Orrison pay him the \$20,000 and convey the two

and one-half acre parcel. (Britt's Brief at pp. 47-49). In response, Orrison will simply point out that he does not own and does not have possession of the log house. Additionally, he has been forced to spend thousands in legal fees to respond to an appeal filed by Britt in bad faith. Suffice it to say, Orrison certainly has not been unjustly enriched through this process.

3. Britt's argument regarding notice of the judgment is not properly before the Court.

Britt argues that his equal protection and due process rights were violated because he allegedly did not receive a copy of the chancellor's judgment and was therefore allegedly unable to file a post-trial motion. (Britt's Brief at pp. 42-44). First, this issue is not properly before the Court, as Britt did not present this argument to the chancellor. *See, e.g., Gilmer v. Gilmer*, 297 So. 3d 324, 338 (Miss. Ct. App. 2020) ("The well-recognized rule is that a [chancellor] will not be put in error on appeal for a matter not presented to [him] for decision."").

Secondly, according to email correspondence with the chancery clerk's office, there is a notation in the file that an attested copy of the judgment *was* mailed to Britt at the address he provided. *See* Email, attached hereto as Appendix "A."

4. Britt's arguments regarding Judge Harris's recusal are not properly before the Court.

Britt argues that Judge Harris should have recused himself and that forcing him to go forward before an "overwhelmingly biased and openly hostile court" violated his equal protection and due process rights. (Britt's Brief at pp. 37-42). But again, this argument is not properly before the Court on appeal.

On the same day that the contempt hearing was reconvened, Britt filed a motion for recusal, which the chancellor denied from the bench. (R. 93; 110). But Britt did not request that the chancellor reduce his ruling to writing, and his notice of appeal includes only the chancellor's

order of January 18, 2022, which contains no discussion of – or even a mention of – Britt's motion for recusal. (R. 145; 95). Thus, this issue is not properly before the Court in this appeal.

5. The Court of Appeals' prior judgment regarding fees speaks for itself.

Britt's first issue on appeal is that the chancellor erred when he did not enter a judgment for court costs. (Britt's Brief, pp. 9-11). In response, Orrison will simply say that the Court of Appeals' mandate speaks for itself.

CONCLUSION

Chancellors are tasked with promoting equity and fairness and have broad discretion to achieve these goals. Here, the chancellor weighed all of the facts and denied Britt's motion for contempt, and he did not abuse his discretion in doing so. Additionally, none of Britt's other arguments have merit, as shown above. Orrison therefore requests the Court to affirm the chancellor's judgment in full.